

The United States as a Net Debtor Nation: Overview of the International Investment Position

name redacted

Specialist in International Trade and Finance

October 7, 2016

Congressional Research Service

7-.... www.crs.gov RL32964

Summary

The international investment position of the United States is an annual measure of the assets Americans own abroad and the assets foreigners own in the United States. The net position, or the difference between the two, sometimes is referred to as a measure of U.S. international indebtedness. This designation is not strictly correct, because the net international investment position reveals the difference between the total assets Americans own abroad and the total amount of assets foreigners own in the United States. These assets generate flows of capital into and out of the economy that have important implications for the value of the dollar in international exchange markets. Some Members of Congress and some in the public have expressed concerns about the U.S. net international investment position because of the role foreign investors are playing in U.S. capital markets and the potential for large outflows of income and services payments. Some observers also argue that the U.S. reliance on foreign capital inflows places the economy in a vulnerable position.

Contents

Background	. 1
Valuing Investments	. 3
Investment Patterns	. 6
International Investment: Sources and Economic Impact	10
Congressional Response	14

Figures

Figure 1. U.S. Direct Investment Abroad: Estimated Value of Accumulated Position, 1990-2015	5
Figure 2. Foreign Direct Investment in the United States: Estimated Value of Accumulated Position, 1990-2015	5
Figure 3. U.SOwned Assets Abroad and Foreign–Owned Assets in the United States, 1994-2015	. 7
Figure 4. Foreign Official and Private Investment Positions in the United States, 1994- 2015	.9
Figure 5. U.S. and Foreign Investment Position, By Major Component, 2015	10
Figure 6. U.S. Income Receipts and Payments on U.SOwned Assets Abroad and on Foreign-Owned Assets in the United States, 2015	14

Tables

Table 1. U.S. Net International Investment Position	. 1
Table 2. U.S. International Investment Status	. 7
Table 3. Saving and Investment in Selected Countries and Areas; 2006-2010, 2010-2015,	
2015, and 2016-2017 (est.)	12

Contacts

Author (Contact Information 1	15
----------	-----------------------	----

Background

The U.S. international investment position represents the accumulated nominal value of U.S.owned assets abroad and foreign-owned assets in the United States measured on an annual basis at the end of the calendar year. Some observers refer to the net of this investment position (or the difference between the value of U.S.-owned assets abroad and the value of foreign-owned assets in the United States) as a debt, or that it indicates that the United States is in a net debtor position, because the value of foreign-owned assets in the United States is greater than the value of U.S.owned assets abroad. In fact, the nation's international investment position is not a measure of the nation's indebtedness similar to the debt borrowed by some developing countries, but it is an accounting of assets. By year-end 2012, the latest year for which data are available, the overseas assets of U.S. residents totaled approximately \$21 trillion, while foreigners had acquired about \$25 trillion in assets in the United States, with direct investment measured at historical cost. As a result, the U.S. net international investment position was about \$4.1 trillion in the negative with direct investment measured at historical cost, as indicated in **Table 1**.

Type of Investment	2012	2013	2014	2015
Net international investment position of the Un	ited States:			
With direct investment at current cost	\$-4,5 8.3	\$-5,372.7	\$-7,046.I	\$-7,280.6
With direct investment at market value	-4,000. I	-4,826.5	-5,913.1	-5,808.7
With direct investment at historical cost	-3,794.8	-4,611.6	-5,717.6	-5,643.0
Net Financial derivatives	57.8	77.6	85.5	57.2
U.S. Assets				
With direct investment at current cost	22,562.2	24,144.8	24,717.5	23,340.8
With direct investment at market value	21,002.7	21,603.8	22,413.8	21,403.1
With direct investment at historical cost	21,610.5	22,238.7	23,042.3	22,011.0
U.S. Assets excluding financial derivatives	18,942.4	21,127.7	21,503.4	20,945.4
Financial derivatives	3,619.8	3,017.1	3,214.1	2,395.4
U.S. Direct Investment Abroad				
—At current cost	5,969.5	7,120.7	7,133.1	6,978.3
—At market value	4,410.0	4,579.7	4,829.4	5,040.6
—At historical cost	5,017.8	5,214.6	5,457.9	5,648.6
Portfolio Investment	7,984.0	9,206. I	9,704.3	9,606.2
—Equities	5,321.9	6,472.9	6,770.6	6,828.2
—Debt securities	2,662.1	2,733.2	2,933.6	2,777.9
Other Investment	4,416.6	4,352.5	4,231.8	3,977.3
Currency and Deposits	2,061.7	1,975.7	1,785.5	1,628.6
Loans	2,299.2	2,323.5	2,399.2	2,304.0
Other	55.7	53.4	47.0	44.7
Reserve Assets	572.4	448.3	434.3	383.6

Table I. U.S. Net International Investment Position

(in billions of dollars)

Type of Investment	2012	2013	2014	2015
U.S. Liabilities				
With direct investment at current cost	27,080.5	29,517.4	31,763.7	30,621.4
With direct investment at market value	25,002.7	26,430.3	28,326.9	27,211.8
With direct investment at historical cost	25,405.3	26,850.3	28,759.9	27,654.0
U.S. Liabilities excluding financial derivatives	23,518.5	26,577.9	28,635.1	28,283.3
Financial derivatives	3,562.0	2,939.5	3,128.6	2,338.1
Foreign Direct Investment in the United States				
—At current cost	4,662.4	5,814.9	6,350.1	6,543.8
—At market value	2,584.7	2,727.8	2,913.3	3,134.2
—At historical cost	2,987.3	3,147.8	3,346.3	3,576.4
Portfolio Investment	13,978.9	15,541.3	16,919.8	16,677.0
Private portfolio investment	8,615.7	9,973.9	11,175.3	11,128.7
Equity	3,843.0	4,968.9	5,664.9	5,400.2
Debt securities, of which:	4,772.8	5,005.1	5,510.5	5,728.5
Treasury securities	288.9	287.1	336.3	388.0
Treasury bonds	1,249.7	1,450.9	1,697.1	1,665.5
Corporate bonds	3,063.7	3,087.0	3,276.0	3,481.0
Official portfolio investment	5,363.1	5,567.3	5,744.5	5,548.3
Equity	702.4	895.7	977.6	818.6
Debt securities, of which:	4,660.8	4,671.6	4,766.8	4,729.6
Treasury securities	372.7	398.4	335.3	336.7
Treasury bonds	3,660.1	3,656.2	3,787.3	3,757.9
Corporate bonds	615.2	590.9	605.I	598.5
Other Investment	4,877.2	5,221.7	5,365.2	5,062.5
Other official investment	318.8	380.0	390.0	508.0
Other private investment	4,558.4	4,841.7	4,975.3	4,554.4
Currency and deposits	2,442.1	2,460.6	2,675.7	2,584.1
Loans	2,048.2	2,315.1	2,228.8	1,901.1
Total U.S. Liabilities to foreign official agencies	5,681.9	5,947.4	6,134.4	6,056.3
Total U.S. Liabilities to private entities	13,278.2	15,788.9	17,525.4	17,672.5

Source: Gohrband, Christopher, et al., The International Investment Position of the United States at the End of the First Quarter of 2016, Year 2015, and Annual Revisions, *BEA New Release*, June 30, 2016.

Foreign investors who acquire U.S. assets do so at their own risk and accept the returns accordingly, unlike the debt owed by developing countries where debt service payments are guaranteed in advance. The returns on the assets in the investment position, except for bonds, are not guaranteed, and foreign investors gain or lose in the same way as U.S. domestic investors. As **Table 1** indicates, these investments include such financial assets as corporate stocks and bonds,

government securities, and direct investment¹ in businesses and real estate. The value of these assets, measured on an annual basis, can change as a result of purchases and sales of new or existing assets; changes in the financial value of the assets that arise through appreciation, depreciation, or inflation; changes in the market values of stocks and bonds; or changes in the value of currencies. The change in the net international investment position between 2011 and 2012 arises from a large increase in U.S. private assets owned abroad as a result of a large revaluation upward in the values of corporate stocks owned abroad by U.S. entities and other private investments that was smaller than the value of new private investments abroad and an increase in net foreign investment in U.S. assets coupled with an upward revaluation of assets in the United States owned by foreigners. The Department of Commerce does not attempt to deflate the nominal value of direct investment, but instead uses three different methods for valuing direct investments that yield roughly comparable estimates for the net position, although the three methods do provide estimates on U.S. direct investment abroad and foreign direct investment that have varied considerably at times. Unless otherwise indicated, this report uses direct investment valued as historical cost.

Valuing Investments

The Department of Commerce provides updated quarterly and annual estimates of the nation's international investment position, with the annual updates typically released in July, based on data for the previous year through the end of the calendar year. Except for direct investment, all of the accounts in the international investment position are estimated directly by the Department of Commerce's Bureau of Economic Analysis (BEA) relative to readily observable market prices. For example, the value of positions in portfolio investments (securities), gold, loans, currencies, and bank deposits can be directly estimated by the BEA based on the face values or market prices of recent transactions. The Department of Commerce does not attempt to deflate the annual nominal amounts for direct investment with a specific price deflator. Instead, the department publishes alternative estimates of direct investment based on current cost, market value, and historical cost to provide other measures of the value of direct investment.

Estimating the value of direct investments, however, presents a number of challenges. According to the Department of Commerce, these challenges arise because foreign direct investments "typically represent illiquid ownership interests in companies that may possess many unique attributes—such as customer base, management, and ownership of intangible assets—whose values in the current period are difficult to determine, because there is no widely accepted standard for revaluing company financial statements at historical cost into prices of the current period."²

As a result, the Department of Commerce estimates the U.S. international investment position in three ways, reflecting three different accounting methods for estimating the value of direct investments: historical cost; current cost; and market value. Initially, direct investments are

¹ The United States defines foreign direct investment as the ownership or control, directly or indirectly, by one foreign person (individual, branch, partnership, association, government, etc.) of 10% or more of the voting securities of an incorporated U.S. business enterprise or an equivalent interest in an unincorporated U.S. business enterprise. 15 C.F.R. §806.15 (a)(1). Similarly, the United States defines direct investment abroad as the ownership or control, directly or indirectly, by one person (individual, branch, partnership, association, government, etc.) of 10% or more of the voting securities of an incorporated business enterprise or an equivalent interest in an unincorporated business enterprise. 15 C.F.R. §806.15 (a)(1).

² Nguyen, Elena L., "The International Investment Position of the United States at Yearend 2011," *Survey of Current Business*, July 2012, p. 18.

valued at historical cost, or the cost at the time of the investment. This historical cost value can become outdated because it is not updated to account for changes in the value of an investment through appreciation, or through internal growth and expansion, or through changes in various intangible assets. The current cost approach estimates the value of capital equipment and land at their current replacement cost using general cost indexes, and inventories, using estimates of their replacement cost, rather than at their historical cost. The third measure, market value, uses indexes of stock market prices to revalue the owners' equity share of direct investment.

For the most part, the current cost and historical cost estimates have tracked closely together for U.S. direct investment abroad and for foreign direct investment in the United States, as indicated in **Figure 1** and **Figure 2**, respectively. These two measures of direct investment demonstrate a steady increase in the value of the investments over the 22-year period from 1990 to 2012. The market value estimate of direct investment, however, displays a markedly different pattern. These estimates spiked during the rapid run-up in stock market values in the 1990s and then dropped sharply when market values declined at the end of the 1990s. The market value estimates rose sharply again in 2003 through 2007, as the rebound in stock market values pushed up the estimated market value of firms. The data for 2008, however, offer one clear indication of the financial crisis that negatively affected stock market indexes in nearly all markets.

In 2008, the market value of U.S. direct investment position abroad, or the cumulative amount of such investment, fell by 41% and the value of foreign direct investment position in the United States fell by 30%, while direct investment valued at current cost or historical cost registered slight positive gains in nominal terms. In contrast, the market value of U.S. direct investment abroad rose by 38% in 2009 from \$3.1 trillion to \$4.3 trillion and the market value of foreign direct investment in the United States rose by 22% from \$2.5 trillion to \$3.0 trillion. During the same period, however, the value of U.S. direct investment abroad rose by 8.5% and 9.7% in terms of current cost and historical cost, respectively. Similarly, the value of foreign corporate stocks owned by U.S. investors rose by 37% from \$4.0 trillion in 2008 to \$5.5 trillion in 2009. In comparison, the value of U.S. corporate stocks owned by foreign investors rose by 14% from \$4.6 trillion in 2008 to \$5.3 trillion in 2009. In 2010, the U.S. direct investment position abroad increased by 10% valued at historical cost, 11.8% valued in market value terms, and 8.9% in current value terms. In addition, in 2010, the foreign direct investment position in the United States increased by 10.8% (historical cost), 14.0% (market value), and 8.9% (current cost). In 2012, U.S. direct investment abroad valued at historical cost and current cost rose by 9.0% and 8.9%, respectively, while the value of such investments rose by 16.3% in terms of market value, reflecting the rise in stock market values overall in Europe and elsewhere. Also, during 2012 foreign direct investment in the United States rose by 5.9% in historical cost terms, by 6.2% in current cost terms, and by 11.8% in market value terms.



Figure 1. U.S. Direct Investment Abroad: Estimated Value of Accumulated Position, 1990-2015

Source: Department of Commerce.





Source: Department of Commerce.

Investment Patterns

Foreign direct investment in U.S. businesses surged in the mid-1980s and has at times outpaced the annual amount of U.S. direct investment abroad. For various reasons, U.S. direct investment abroad and foreign direct investment in the United States have tended to track together so that the annual flows increase or decrease somewhat in tandem,³ except in 2005, when U.S. direct investment abroad dropped sharply as U.S. parent firms reduced the amount of reinvested earnings going to their foreign affiliates for distribution to the U.S. parent firms in order to take advantage of one-time tax provisions in the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (P.L. 108-357). From 2002 to 2004, and again from 2007 through 2012, U.S. direct investment outflows were greater than similar inflows. As a whole, however, the total amount of foreign investment in all U.S. assets has been greater than the total amount of U.S. investment abroad, which has tended to push the net U.S. international investment position further into a negative position. This is not the first time in the nation's history that the U.S. net international investment position has been negative.

Early in the nation's history, as the United States made the transition from being a developing economy to being a major economic superpower, foreign investment flowed into capital development projects such as railroad and canal construction, which aided the westward expansion and the development of heavy industries. By 1920, foreigners had withdrawn many of their assets from the United States to finance World War I, which turned the United States into a net creditor. This net creditor position grew unabated after World War II and into the 1980s, when large inflows of foreign investment once again turned the nation's net international investment position into a negative.

The U.S. net debtor status continued to grow through the 1990s and into the 2000s, as indicated by **Figure 3**, which shows U.S.-owned assets abroad and foreign-owned assets in the United States with direct investment valued at historical cost. By year-end 2012, U.S. assets abroad are estimated to have reached \$21.0 trillion, while foreign owned assets in the United States were \$25.1 trillion, with direct investments valued at historical cost. As a result, the U.S. net international investment position was estimated to be nearly a negative \$4.1 trillion, or equivalent to about 28% of U.S. gross domestic product (GDP), marking a substantial increase in the relative size of the net investment debt position over the 1990s, as indicated in **Table 2**. The net investment measured at historical cost, due primarily to an increase in financial derivatives and upward price revisions in foreign-owned assets in the United States. According to the two other measures for direct investment—current cost and market value—the net investment position was valued at about negative \$3.9 trillion and negative \$4.6 trillion, respectively.

³ See CRS Report RL32461, Outsourcing and Insourcing Jobs in the U.S. Economy: Evidence Based on Foreign Investment Data.



Figure 3. U.S.-Owned Assets Abroad and Foreign–Owned Assets in the United States, 1994-2015

Table 2. U.S. International Investment Status

(billions of dollars)

		(-			
	U.S Owned Assets Abroad	Foreign-Owned Assets in the United States	U.S. Net International Investment Position	U.S. Gross Domestic Product	Net Position Relative Share of U.S. Gross Domestic Product
1980	\$541.7	\$442.4	\$99.4	\$2,788.1	3.6%
1985	1,134.5	1,143.0	-8.6	4,217.5	-0.2
1990	1,944.1	2,272.9	-328.8	5,800.5	-5.7
1995	3,213.7	3,717.1	-503.4	7,414.7	-6.8
1996	3,741.5	4,285.6	-544.1	7,838.5	-6.9
1997	4,295.0	5,128.0	-832.9	8,332.4	-10.0
1998	4,770.8	5,715.7	-944.9	8,793.5	-10.7
1999	5,560.7	6,382.2	-821.4	9,353.5	-8.8
2000	5,923.I	7,110.5	-1,187.4	10,284.8	-11.5%
2001	5,931.8	7,922.1	-1,990.3	10,621.8	-18.7%
2002	6,242.4	8,537.7	-2,295.4	10,977.5	-20.9%
2003	7,200.2	9,478.1	-2,277.9	11,510.7	-19.8%
2004	8,611.8	,246.	-2,634.4	12,274.9	-21.5%
2005	11,551.5	13,621.8	-2,070.4	13,093.7	-15.8%

Source: Department of Commerce.

	U.S Owned Assets Abroad	Foreign-Owned Assets in the United States	U.S. Net International Investment Position	U.S. Gross Domestic Product	Net Position Relative Share of U.S. Gross Domestic Product
2006	13,957.2	16,306.2	-2,349.0	13,855.9	-16.9%
2007	17,840.6	19,842.9	-2,002.4	14,477.6	-13.8%
2008	18,948.7	22,374.1	-3,425.4	14,718.6	-23.3%
2009	18,047.3	20,504.7	-2,457.4	14,418.7	-17.0%
2010	19,733.5	22,454.3	-2,720.9	14,964.4	-18.2%
2011	21,057.7	24,989.8	-3,932.2	15,517.9	-25.3%
2012	21,002.7	25,002.7	-4,000.1	16,155.3	-24.8%
2013	21,603.8	26,430.3	-4,826.5	16,691.5	-28.9%
2014	22,413.8	28,326.9	-5,913.1	17,393.1	-34.0%
2015	21,403.1	27,211.8	-5,808.7	18,036.6	-32.2%

Source: Department of Commerce.

The foreign investment position in the United States continues to increase as foreigners acquire additional U.S. assets and as the value of existing assets appreciates. These assets are broadly divided into official and private investments reflecting transactions by governments among themselves and transactions among the public. At times, some observers have been concerned about the amount of foreign official investment in the U.S. economy, particularly in U.S. Treasury securities and, more recently, purchases of U.S. businesses by foreign governments. As **Figure 4** indicates, official asset holdings were valued at about \$5.7 trillion in 2012, or about 21% of the total foreign investment position. Official assets include such monetary reserve assets as gold, the reserve position with the International Monetary Fund (IMF), and holdings of foreign currency. An important component of foreign official holdings in the United States is the acquisitions of U.S. Treasury securities by foreign governments. At times, such acquisitions are used by foreign governments, either through coordinated actions or by themselves, to affect the foreign exchange price of the dollar. Foreign currency holdings account for a relatively small share of the total foreign investment position.



Figure 4. Foreign Official and Private Investment Positions in the United States, 1994-2015

Private asset holdings are comprised primarily of direct investment in businesses and real estate, purchases of publicly traded government securities, and corporate stocks and bonds. Foreign-owned private assets were valued at \$15.8 trillion or about 60% of the total foreign-owned assets in the United States in 2012. As indicated in **Figure 5**, the composition of U.S. assets abroad and foreign-owned assets in the United States is different in a number of ways. The strength and uniqueness of the U.S. Treasury securities markets make these assets sought after by both official and private foreign investors, whereas U.S. investors hold few foreign government securities. As a result, foreign official assets in the United States far outweigh U.S. official assets abroad. Both foreign private and official investors have been drawn at times to U.S. government securities as a safe haven investment during troubled or unsettled economic conditions, including during the 2008-2009 financial crisis.

Source: Department of Commerce.



Figure 5. U.S. and Foreign Investment Position, By Major Component, 2015

Source: Department of Commerce.

Other than official accounts, the other major accounts are similarly matched. The accounts for inward and outward direct investments, although dominated by U.S. direct investment abroad, nevertheless demonstrate the appeal of such investments to both U.S. and foreign investors. In fact, the United States is unique in that it not only is the largest foreign direct investor in the world, but it is also the largest recipient of direct investment in the world. Foreign investors also have been attracted to U.S. corporate stocks and bonds for the same reasons domestic U.S. investors have invested in them.⁴ The decline in the overall value of U.S. corporate stocks after 2000, however, curbed the rate of growth of foreign purchases of these assets. A similar decline in the value of foreign stocks and the depreciation in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to a broad range of currencies reduced the dollar value of American-owned stock holdings abroad. Claims by private banks are also included in the international investment accounts and represent a broad range of international financial transactions, including financing for short-term trade credits associated with exports and imports of merchandise goods.

International Investment: Sources and Economic Impact

International investment not only has an impact on the U.S. economy, but it is affected by the economy. For U.S. investors, foreign markets provide them with opportunities to seek out the greatest returns for their investments, returns which often are repatriated back to the United States. In addition, U.S. direct investment abroad, for the most part, tends to stimulate U.S. exports, rather than act as a substitute for exports, which in turn stimulates the most productive

⁴ For additional information, see CRS Report RL32462, Foreign Investment in U.S. Securities.

sectors of the economy.⁵ U.S. direct investment abroad is highly sought after by developing countries, which not only want the capital to supplement their own limited domestic sources, but also want American technology and expertise.

Foreign capital inflows augment domestic U.S. sources of capital, which, in turn, keep U.S. interest rates lower than they would be without the foreign capital. Indeed economists generally argue that it is this interplay between the demand for and the supply of credit in the economy that drives the broad inflows and outflows of capital. As U.S. demands for capital outstrip domestic sources of funds, domestic interest rates rise relative to those abroad, which tends to draw capital away from other countries to the United States.

The United States also has benefitted from a surplus of saving over investment in many areas of the world that has provided a supply of funds at low rates of interest. This surplus of saving has been available to the United States because foreigners have remained willing to lend that saving to the United States in the form of acquiring U.S. assets, which have accommodated the growing current account deficits. Prior to the 2008-2009 financial crisis, the United States experienced a decline in its rate of savings and an increase in the rate of domestic investment. The large increase in the nation's current account deficit would not have been possible without the accommodating inflows of foreign capital. Since then, both the U.S. saving rate and the rate of business investment as a share of gross domestic product (GDP) increased relative to the prior period, as indicated in **Table 3**.

As **Table 3** indicates, U.S. saving as a percent of GDP is estimated to have increased in 2015 by 1.6% compared with the 2010-2015 period, while business investment is estimated to have increased at a slower rate of 1.1% of GDP, so that saving increased as a share of GDP relative to the 2010-2015 period. The differences are even more notable between the values of U.S. saving and investment relative to GDP for 2015 and the average of 2006-2010, or during the period prior to and including the financial crisis. In this comparison, U.S. saving has increased by 4.6% of GDP, while investment has increased by 2.1%, indicating an increase in U.S. saving over investment in 2015 compared with the 2006-2010 averages. These changes in the share of saving and investment relative to GDP are estimated to have been accompanied by an increase worldwide in both saving and investment with saving in 2015 increasing slightly greater as a share of global GDP than investment, which means there was estimated to be an excess of saving world-wide in 2015 compared with the 2010-2015 period.

Among advanced economies, saving increased in 2015, while investment is estimated to have remained steady relative to the 2010-2015 period as a share of GDP, reflecting a low rate of economic growth and market uncertainty over economic prospects that crimped economic activity in 2011 and 2012. In 2015, saving in the Eurozone is estimated to have increased by 1.0% of GDP, while investment declined by 0.8% as a share of GDP compared with the 2010-2015 period. Saving and investment increased as a share of GDP in Japan in 2015 compared with the average of 2010-2015. The increase saving in Japan relative to GDP in 2015 was the largest among major economies and likely acted to blunt government actions to boost the rate of economic growth. Among the emerging developing economies, saving fell by 1.0% relative to GDP, while investment was flat as the impact of slowing global trade and lower commodity prices negatively affected rates of economic growth for commodity exporting countries and their trading partners. In the developing economies of Asia (which includes China) experienced a decrease in saving and a larger decrease in investment as a share of GDP in 2015 compared with

⁵ For additional information, see CRS Report RL32461, *Outsourcing and Insourcing Jobs in the U.S. Economy: Evidence Based on Foreign Investment Data.*

the average of 2010-2015, which also reflected the slowdown in global economic activity and which added to the amount of excess saving provided by the countries in this area. In the Middle East, saving decreased by 12.7% of GDP in 2015 compared with the average of 2010-2015 as a result of lower energy prices and slower global trade and lower investment as a share of GDP, which reduced the global supply of saving.

(Percentage of Gross Domestic Product)						
Area/Country	Average, 2006-2010	Average, 2010-2015	2015	Change	2016	2017
World						
Saving	24.0	25.3	25.6	0.3	25.2	25.2
Investment	23.6	24.7	24.9	0.2	24.9	25.1
United States						
Saving	14.1	17.1	18.7	1.6	17.5	17.5
Investment	18.3	19.1	20.2	1.1	20.4	20.8
Advanced Economies						
Saving	19.8	21.1	21.9	0.8	21.4	21.5
Investment	20.5	20.7	20.7	0.0	20.8	21.1
Eurozone						
Saving	21.5	22.2	23.2	1.0	23.5	23.6
Investment	21.3	20.4	19.6	-0.8	19.6	20.0
Japan						
Saving	25.4	22.5	25.3	2.8	25.6	25.8
Investment	21.6	20.8	22.0	1.2	21.8	22.1
Emerging Developing Economies						
Saving	32.78	32.42	31.4	-1.0	31.1	30.8
Investment	29.74	31.48	31.5	0.0	31.5	31.2
Developing Asia						
Saving	43.8	43.1	41.5	-1.6	40.2	39.0
Investment	39.0	41.8	39.6	-2.2	38.5	37.9
Middle East						
Saving	38.1	35.8	23.1	-12.7	20.6	22. I
Investment	27.0	26.2	25.0	-1.2	25.4	25.3

2015, 2015, and 2016-2017 (est.)

Table 3. Saving and Investment in Selected Countries and Areas; 2006-2010, 2010-

Source: World Economic Outlook, International Monetary Fund, April 2016. pp. 194-195.

Capital inflows also allow the United States to finance its trade deficit, because foreigners are willing to lend to the United States in the form of exchanging the sale of goods, represented by U.S. imports, for such U.S. assets as stocks, bonds, and U.S. Treasury securities. Such inflows, however, generally put upward pressure on the dollar, which tends to push up the price of U.S. exports relative to its imports and reduce the overall level of exports. Furthermore, foreign

investment in the U.S. economy drains off some of the income earned on the foreign-owned assets that otherwise would accrue to the U.S. economy as foreign investors repatriate their earnings back home.

Some observers are particularly concerned about the long-term impact of the U.S. position as a net international investment debtor on the pattern of U.S. international income receipts and payments. In 2015, the United States received \$900 billion in income receipts (including receipts on royalties) on its investments abroad and paid out \$622 billion in income payments (including payments on royalties) on foreign-owned assets in the United States for a net surplus of \$278 billion in income receipts.⁶ This surplus has varied over time as changes in interest rates affect payments to foreign investors on such assets as Treasury securities and corporate bonds.⁷ As the annual amount of foreign investment in the U.S. economy continues to exceed the amount of U.S. investment abroad, it seems inevitable that U.S. payments on foreign-owned assets will exceed U.S. receipts. A net outflow of income payments would act as a drag on the national economy as U.S. national income is reduced by the net amount of funds that are channeled abroad to foreign investors.

One of the positive areas of the income accounts is the income receipts the United States receives on U.S. direct investments abroad. Although the historical cost values of U.S. direct investment abroad and foreign direct investment in the United States are roughly equal, the United States earned \$265 billion more on its direct investment assets abroad in 2015 than foreigners earned on their direct investments in this country, as indicated in **Figure 6**.

The performance of foreign-owned establishments, on average, compared with their U.S.-owned counterparts presents a mixed picture. Historically, foreign-owned firms operating in the United States have had lower rates of return, as measured by return on assets, than U.S.-owned firms, although the gap between the two groups appears to have narrowed over time. According to the Bureau of Economic Analysis, this narrowing of the gap in the rate of return appears to be related to age effects, or the costs associated with acquiring or establishing a new business that can entail startup costs that disappear over time and market share.⁸ By other measures, foreign-owned manufacturing firms appear to be outperforming their U.S. counterparts.⁹

The U.S. net surplus of income receipts arising from direct investments was offset in part due to net payments of \$89 billion to foreign holders of portfolio investment, including U.S. government securities. In addition, the United States received \$125 billion in royalties in 2015 on various products and on U.S.-licensed production technology, patents, and copyrighted material. This was over three times the \$40 billion the United States paid foreigners in royalties on their investments in the United States.

⁶ Steiner, Christopher P. and Jeanine Aversa, U.S. International Transactions: Second Quarter 2016, BEA Release, September 15, 2016.

⁷ Whitehouse, Mark, U.S. Foreign Debt Shows Its Teeth As Rates Climb. *The Wall Street Journal*, September 25, 2006, p. A1.

⁸ Mataloni, Raymond J. Jr., An Examination of the Low Rates of Return of Foreign-Owned U.S. Companies, *Survey of Current Business*, March 2000, p. 55.

⁹ Foreign Direct Investment in the United States, Establishment Data for 2002, Bureau of Economic Analysis, June 2007.



Figure 6. U.S. Income Receipts and Payments on U.S.-Owned Assets Abroad and on Foreign-Owned Assets in the United States, 2015

Source: Department of Commerce.

Congressional Response

Despite expressing concerns at times about the U.S. net international investment position, Members of Congress generally have been reluctant to intervene in the investment process, whether inward or outward. Indeed, successive Congresses and Administrations have led international efforts to eliminate or reduce restraints on the international flow of capital. If the U.S. net investment position continues to turn more negative, prospects increase that the positive U.S. net income receipts will turn negative as U.S. income payments overwhelm U.S. income receipts. In such a case, the U.S. economy will experience a net economic drain as income that could be used to finance new U.S. businesses and investments will be sent abroad to satisfy foreign creditors. Such a drain likely will be small at first relative to the overall size of the economy, but it could grow rapidly if the economy continues to import large amounts of foreign capital.

Some observers are also concerned about the growing role foreign investment is playing in the economy by bridging the gap between domestic sources and demands for credit. Such inflows could decline as a share of U.S. GDP as the economy attains a more robust rate of growth and the government's budget deficit declines. One chief consideration is how the capital inflows are being used. Investment funds that are flowing into direct investment and into corporate stocks and bonds presumably are being used to bolster investments in plant and equipment and other investments that aid in improving productivity over the long run. As such, those investments may well provide a boost to U.S. economic growth well into the future. Foreign investment in U.S. Treasury securities directly aids in financing the federal government's budget deficits and indirectly eases the federal government's demands on domestic credit markets, which assists U.S.

firms and consumer consumption by freeing up capital in the economy and by relieving some of the pressure on domestic interest rates.

One growing concern among some policymakers is the rising amount of investment by foreign governments in U.S. businesses, real estate, and portfolio assets (corporate stocks and bonds, and U.S. government securities). Such investments by foreign governments are bolstered by the growing holdings of U.S. currency by foreign governments, known as sovereign wealth funds, which are estimated to amount to more than \$2.5 trillion.¹⁰ U.S. policy toward foreign investment generally has been one of acceptance and openness. Investments by foreign governments, however, are viewed by some as a new and different kind of investment that bears greater scrutiny. Such investments by foreign governments are viewed by some as contrary to longstanding U.S. policies which have encouraged foreign governments to shift away from owning businesses enterprises and to support private ownership. For some observers, investments by foreign governments also raise the potential for official interference into a broad range of market activities. There is no evidence to date that ownership of various U.S. assets by foreign governments, by itself, has affected the management of those assets or the markets in which they exist in ways that differ from ownership by private foreign entities. Nevertheless, such concerns likely helped motivate Congress to pass, and President Bush to sign on July 26, 2007, P.L. 110-49, the Foreign Investment and National Security Act of 2007, which increased congressional oversight over acquisitions of U.S. businesses by foreign governments.

Some observers contend that a sharp decline in capital inflows or a sudden withdrawal of foreign capital from the economy could spark a financial crisis. Congress likely would find itself embroiled in any such financial crisis through its direct role in conducting fiscal policy and in its indirect role in the conduct of monetary policy through its supervisory responsibility over the Federal Reserve. Such a coordinated withdrawal seems highly unlikely, particularly since the vast majority of the investors are private entities that presumably would find it difficult to coordinate a withdrawal. Short of a financial crisis, events that cause foreign investors to curtail or limit their purchases of U.S. securities likely would complicate efforts to finance budget deficits in the current environment without such foreign actions having an impact on U.S. interest rates, domestic investment, and long-term rate of growth. The 2008-2009 financial crisis demonstrated, that, at least for now, foreign investors still see dollar-denominated assets as safe-haven investments during turbulent or uncertain times.

Author Contact Information

(name redacted) Specialist in International Trade and Finance fedacted-@crs.loc.goy7-....

¹⁰ Weisman, Steven R., A Fear of Foreign Investments. *The New York Times*, August 21, 2007.

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted names, phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.